Public Document Pack

London Borough of Islington

Environment and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee - 14 April 2015

Minutes of the meeting of the Environment and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee held at Committee Room 1, Town Hall, Upper Street, N1 2UD on 14 April 2015 at 7.30 pm.

Present: Councillors: Court (Chair), Ward (Vice-Chair), Heather, Jeapes,

Russell and Turan

Councillor James Court in the Chair

62 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (Item A1)

None.

63 <u>DECLARATIONS OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (Item A2)</u>

None.

64 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (Item A3)

None.

65 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETINGS (Item A4)

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the Environment and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee meetings on 5 March 2015 and 16 March 2015 be confirmed as an accurate record of proceedings and the Chair be authorised to sign them.

MATTERS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES

Officers had provided a written response following Communal Heating points raised at the last meeting. This would be appended to the minutes for information.

66 PUBLIC QUESTIONS (Item A5)

Questions from members of the public were addressed during the relevant items.

67 CHAIR'S REPORT (Item A6)

None.

68 <u>COMMUNITY ENERGY - WITNESS EVIDENCE (Item B1)</u>

Gail Scholes, Head of Energy and Robert Purdon, Contracts Manager from Nottingham City Council gave witness evidence.

In the presentation and the discussion which followed, the following points were made:

Nottingham had a long history in municipal energy. It had a district heating scheme in 1970s and was now one of the more energy sufficient cities with high local generation. There was large scale photovoltaic solar installation with 2,300 homes equipped with solar panels over the last three years. The council paid for, installed and maintained the solar panels and retained the feed-in tariff with the residents getting electricity. The scheme included both social housing and private sector housing.

Environment and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee - 14 April 2015

- Nottingham City Council would be extending the solar panel scheme to 3,000 additional homes from 2015. Once this was complete, 5,300 out of approximately 150,000 homes in the city would have solar panels. Whereas the feed-in tariff for the first 2,300 homes had been secured when it was at the highest rate, the feed-in tariff for the next 3,000 homes would be at the lower rate.
- Nottingham City Council had set up an in-house installation team of accredited installers. This reduced costs and created jobs.
- Most of the homes with solar panels were three bedroom semi-detached houses.
 Lower income areas were targeted.
- There was a mixed model approach in Nottingham. External wall insulation had been undertaken and residents were encouraged to undertake energy efficiency measures.
- The first solar panel scheme in Nottingham outperformed by £120,000 per year and the additional money went into the council's general fund. Following this scheme, it was decided that more panels should be put on each roof.
- In Nottingham, 12% of the energy demand was met from Combined Heat and Power (CHP) and 3% was met from a waste plant. The district heating scheme included a council office building, offices, a hotel, an apartment block, a concert venue and a biosite. The scheme provided a more secure supply than the national grid would. There were four means of supplying buildings and many were willing to pay a premium for this.
- The district heating scheme was controlled by the council and run as a limited company.
- Most of the day-to-day running of Nottingham's Energy Services Company was undertaken in-house.
- There was a new energy park in Nottingham and planning consent had been given for a 160,000 tonne gasification plant. This could as much as double Nottingham's energy generation capacity.
- Other councils paid Nottingham to take their rubbish and Nottingham had a large commercial waste business. Waste disposal costs were minimal. Emissions were monitored.
- In order to create a cheap energy tariff, the council first set up a switching site and researched the market. The aim was to reduce fuel poverty. Nottingham Council then set up a fully licensed energy company by buying a pre-accredited licensed company. This was quicker to set up than if the council set up the company itself. The council had approved the first year's operating costs of £11 million. The company had to use the national grid and pay transmission and distribution costs as it only had one block with private wire and extending this would be too expensive. The cost model showed that Nottingham's energy company was likely to be one of the cheapest suppliers on the market.
- In response to a question asking how many staff worked on the project, the committee were advised that six managers managed the process.
- In the first year, Nottingham had 50,000 customers, in the second year the figure rose to 150,000 and in the third year it was 250,000.
- Nottingham City Council had found a meter asset provider who would enable the council to rent or pay for the use of smart meters and a smart meter pre-payment system would be put in place.
- Although Nottingham City Council would trigger ECO Energy Company Obligations once it reached the criteria for this, this would provide the local authority with the opportunity to invest.
- Other councils could use Nottingham's white label offer. Nottingham could provide four tariffs and the other council could label and promote them to residents. Nottingham had spent £1.5m on systems to enable this to happen and for other councils to capitalise on the work Nottingham had done. This approach would also

Environment and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee - 14 April 2015

- create local jobs e.g. call centres, when the number of residents using this supply reached a certain volume.
- At the moment, Nottingham was undertaking controlled market entry. This meant a small number of customers were being taken on to prove the processes worked. In October 2015, this would be rolled out.
- Nottingham would become the first local authority energy company.
- Nottingham would not sell debts to debt collection agency. The first three stages of debt collection were undertaken by the council and if these were not successful, a debt collection agency would be used, although the council would retain control. A fixed fee would be agreed for each stage and there would be an agreed set of principles.
- Pre-payment smart meters were being installed and those in fuel debt were signposted to advice centres and were helped to manage their debt.
- Switching to the Nottingham supplier saved a typical household £200 per year. The
 council had a tool on its website so potential customers could see how much they
 could save by switching.
- Nottingham aimed to treat people fairly and offer them the best possible price.

RESOLVED:

That the evidence be noted.

69 FUEL POVERTY - WITNESS EVIDENCE (Item B2)

Councillor Murray, Executive Member for Housing provided witness evidence.

In the presentation and the discussion which followed, the following points were made:

- Making homes more energy efficient reduced energy costs for residents and this in turn reduced fuel poverty.
- The council undertook cavity wall insulation, loft insulation, reduced the number of F
 and G rated properties and undertook solid wall insulation. Whereas cavity wall
 insulation was relatively quick and easy to undertake with minimal disruption to
 residents, solid wall insulation was harder and caused more disruption.
- The communal heating charges for tenants were designed to make charges fairer.
 Some blocks were more energy efficient than others and when energy efficiency measures were undertaken in a block, it was fairer for the effect to be on tenants as a whole rather than tenants in that individual block.
- In 2014 the average tenant's heating bill cost £604 and the average leaseholder's heating bill cost £520. This year the cost of gas had decreased so tenants would receive a rebate of approximately £100. This meant overall they would be paying approximately £500. Over the last 10 years, tenants had paid less than the actual cost.
- The amount leaseholders paid was highest if they lived in a small block and lowest if they lived in a large block as their charges were based on the block they lived in as legislation meant their charges could not be pooled.
- In response to a question about the recommendation in the draft fuel poverty scrutiny report which recommended that the council should consider setting energy efficiency standards for its housing and those it paid housing benefit to, Councillor Murray stated that in some cases, affordable housing was found which was not energy efficient and then work was undertaken with landlords to improve the rating. Landlords could be given the opportunity to engage with the council to improve energy efficiency in the first year.
- Most people who were fuel poor lived in D or E rated properties. The council had few
 F and G properties and the cost of improving these would be substantial. Most F and
 G homes were in the private rented sector.

Environment and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee - 14 April 2015

- In response to a question from a member of the public, an officer advised that the rebate to tenants would be apportioned according to the amount the tenants paid and paid to the rent account.
- In response to a question from a member of the public about the reason why tenant charges had to be pooled, an officer advised that it was fairer to pool the charges. If it was not possible to undertake energy efficiency measures in all blocks, work was undertaken where it could be and this resulted in a reduction in energy bills for all tenants rather than just those in the blocks where it had been undertaken.
- It was suggested that some blocks were interested in depooling. Depooling could result in an increase in the cost of heating for tenants across the borough.
- If all tenants turned their heating down by 1 or 2°C this would reduce the overall hills
- A basic level of heat was required in buildings to prevent condensation and other building issues.
- Having smarter controls and thermostats could reduce energy usage.

RESOLVED:

That the evidence be noted.

70 <u>FUEL POVERTY - DRAFT REPORT (Item B3)</u> RESOLVED:

- 1) That the report be amended to include the witness evidence from Matilda Allen, Research Fellow, UCL institute of Health Equity and Fiona Daly, Head of Sustainability, Barts Health NHS Trust and the minor changes suggested by members.
- 2) That any further comments be sent to Democratic Services.

71 WORK PROGRAMME (Item B4)

RESOLVED:

1) That the work programme be noted

2) T	That a session on communal heating be added to the work programme for 15 Ju eting.	ine
The meetin	ng ended at 10.00 pm	
СН	AIR	
Арр	pendix	

Questions issues raised by the Environment and Regeneration Scrutiny

How are heating costs calculated for tenants and leaseholders?

Tenants and leaseholders both pay for the cost of gas needed to provide communal heating. The council has a different approach to calculating charges to tenants and leaseholders for communal heating. This is because there is a different legal framework for these two groups. Other service charges, such as caretaking, are also calculated differently.

We calculate tenants' service charges on a pooled basis because we consider this to be the fairest and simplest way as all tenants in properties of the same size pay the same charge regardless of which estate they live on.

Legally (1985 Housing Act) the council cannot 'pool' leaseholders' charges so leaseholders' heating charges are calculated by taking the yearly fuel costs of the boiler house that services each leasehold property and dividing this by the number of properties that receive heating from that boiler.

In practice this means that this is almost always a difference between tenant and leaseholder charges for heating. On some estates tenants pay more than leaseholders, on other estates leaseholders pay more than tenants.

There is also a timing difference between the times when tenant and leaseholder charges are set for the coming year. Tenant charges are based on gas usage in the previous year plus an estimate of the change in the cost of gas. Leaseholder charges are based on the actual cost of gas from two years ago plus an estimate of the increase in the cost of gas for the coming year. In the financial year 2014/15 these timing differences mean that tenants with an average charge of £604, are paying more than leaseholders, with an average charge of £520.

In addition, it has cost us less than we thought it would to provide communal heating in 2014/15, and so if at the end of the year there is a significant surplus in the communal heating account we will use this to provide a rebate to tenants. If, as is currently likely, we provide a rebate of around £100 at the end of the year to tenants with communal heating this would bring the average tenant charge to approximately £500.

Even without the rebate, differences between tenant and leaseholder charges would even out in the following years because the tenant heating account is ring-fenced. Whilst leaseholders' charges would be adjusted to reflect any actual increase in the cost of gas in future, tenants' charges would not increase because they paid more in the 2014/15 financial year that would damper future increases

Why don't we calculate tenants' charges on a block basis like leaseholders?

The council calculates all tenant services charges on a pooled basis. This includes communal heating but also communal electricity and caretaking. The Council considers this to be the fairest and simplest way to calculate charges as all tenants in properties of the same size pay the same charge regardless of which estate they live on.

For communal heating which is much like other service charges, the pooled system means that on some estates tenants pay more than leaseholders for the services they receive but on other estates leaseholders may pay more than tenants. It is not recommended that the council offers tenants the option of de-pooling their heating charge. This goes against the principle of all tenants sharing equally in the cost of services. If tenants' charges were calculated on a block by block basis there would be significant variances in the tenants'

charges with charges on some estates going down and charges on other estates going up. It is likely that estates with lower than average per unit costs of heating would opt to come out of the pool – pushing the price up for those tenants still part of the pool.

Also, to bring tenants and leasehold charges into line would require a total re-working of the way tenants' and leaseholders' service charges are calculated. The administrative cost in calculating tenants' service charges on the same basis as leaseholder charges would be significant because costs would have to be adjusted on a block by block basis for all residents not just 25 percent of properties. Also, leaseholders are currently billed annually for their heating (and other service charges) at the start of the year and many choose to pay monthly by direct debit. We know through previous consultation that tenants prefer to pay their heating costs on a weekly basis.

Why don't we change tenants' heating charges during the year to reflect changes in the cost of gas?

Significant administrative and programming costs would be incurred if tenants' heating charges were adjusted throughout the year. On a quarterly basis we would need to write to all tenants advising them of the changes, programme the income control database, work with the energy team to forecast future energy prices and adjust charges. The estimated cost of this in officer time and mail-outs is £30k - £50k per year, or £10 – £15 per tenant. This would eat into any rebate or reduction in charges. Further, less than 20 percent of tenants pay by direct debit. Other tenants would need to manually adjust any standing orders or other payments which could be an annoyance for what would often be a small change in charges.

Why can't tenants and leaseholders pay for the heating they use?

Giving the option of residents paying for the amount of heating they individually use would require the installation of heat meters.

Installation of heat meters is not a simple process like the installation of an electricity Smart meter. In many cases it would require the significant modification of heating pipework.

In the social housing sector the view of individual heat metering differs between providers. Some other large heat network operators such as Sheffield Council, Nottingham Council and Peabody Housing Association have recently decided to move to individual metering in all properties. Others, such as Aberdeen, are currently committed to maintaining a flat rate charge.

There are a number of potential positives and negatives of individual heat metering, as set out in the table below. The key positive is that some residents would save money because they would use less heating. However, there would be increased costs (installation, billing management, meter repair) which would offset these savings. Based on an annual fixed cost of £135¹ tenants in a two bedroom property would have to reduce their heating usage by more than 20% to see a financial benefit from heat metering. DECC guidance estimates that residents reduce their usage by 20% following installation of heat meters which would mean that, on average, households would not see a saving. Heating costs for certain groups of more vulnerable residents, such as older people and families with small children at home, may increase as a result of heat metering, because usage would not go down but costs

Page 2

¹ This is made up of £450 for meter installation and a ten year meter lifespan (as advised by DECC), £80 for billing and payment management (as advised by DECC) and £10 for meter servicing. Experience from Sheffield is that installation costs are £550 per unit and experience from Nottingham is that servicing costs are £50 per property per year.

would go up². Fixed costs would increase significantly if meters and controls were installed as a standalone project rather than as part of a system upgrade. In these cases annual fixed costs are estimated at £290 which would mean residents' usage would need to reduce by more than 40% to see a financial saving.

Potential positive	Potential negative
Gives residents more choice over when to have their heating on.	Residents at risk of fuel poverty choose to under-heat their homes causing issues such as ill health and increased risk of condensation in the property.
Some residents' heating costs would reduce because they would only pay for the heating they use, and most people would choose to have their heating on for less than the current 18 hours per day. Estimated reduction in usage is 15 - 30% following metering. (DECC assume 20%).	The annual cost of installing, managing payment and maintaining for individual meters would be approximately £135 per property per year (£45 for installation (1/10 th of the total cost), £80 for managing payment and £10 for maintenance). The assumption is that this would be included in the heat charge –cancelling out the savings from using less heat.
If residents used less heating CO2 emissions would also reduce. Also it may free up capacity in our existing boiler houses – potentially allowing new buildings to be added to existing networks.	The capital cost of installing heat meters is estimated to be £450 per unit, and meters are assumed to have a ten year lifespan. Costs would increase if modifications to controls/pipework were required. The total cost across all unmetered communallyheated properties is estimated to be a minimum of £2m.
	Ongoing maintenance of individual heat meters would be required. Access to carry out this maintenance has proved difficult on the council's two estates with individual heat meters.
	The cost of installing individual heat meters would be rechargeable to leaseholders
	Heating costs for some of the most vulnerable residents, for example the elderly or those with small children at home, may increase as a result of heat metering.

Has the system of estimating future gas prices when setting tenants charges meant that tenants paid more than the actual cost in previous years?

The position has fluctuated over the last ten years. The net position over the last ten years is that tenants receiving communal heating have paid approximately £400k less than the actual cost of the service.

What is the energy efficiency of our communally-heated blocks?

² DECC have carried out research into the heating habits of different groups which estimates hours of heating for different groups, for example people out during the day use their heating for an average of 7 hours whilst those in during the day average at 10 or 16 hours. This does not correlate with our own consultation when the preferred option was for 18 hours of heating even where reduced heating hours would reduce cost.

The average SAP ratings of properties in communally-heated estates are shown in the document attached. However, it should be noted that the average SAP scores are skewed by factors other than the thermal efficiency of the building materials. This is why estates such as Spa Green and King Square are showing a relatively high average SAP even though we know some walls are poorly insulated. Estates like King Square and Spa Green are both comprised of bigger blocks so the majority of flats do not have many external walls; this has a bigger impact on the average SAP for the estate than the actual thermal efficiency of the walls.

So, we do not think that average SAP is a very helpful measure for which estates may need more insulation or increased hours of heating. The council's Energy Team is working to produce an alternative prioritisation list for communally-heated estates that may need special attention.

What are potential improvements/ policy options moving forward?

A. Improving the energy efficiency of communally-heated estates to help tenants feel warmer and reduce gas usage and hence costs.

The council has invested over £100m in improving the energy efficiency of its stock over the past ten years. All cavity walls have now been filled, all F and G-rated boilers have been replaced, some solar panels have been installed, thousands of lofts and flat roofs have been insulated, solid wall insulation has been installed in some street properties are four estates and double glazing has been installed in the majority of our homes.

The council is currently developing an Energy Efficiency Investment Strategy that will prioritise £5m of additional investment in energy efficiency over the next seven years. Examples of this could include more double glazing, external wall insulation and improved heating controls. The evidence base informing this strategy is in development but the principle will be that investment is directed to where it is needed most and where it can have the biggest impact. Scrutiny's suggestions for works to be prioritised under this fund would be welcomed.

B. Giving certain estates extended heating hours and not charging tenants extra for this service

The council is always looking for new ways to make communal heating fairer. We are examining the energy efficiency of our communally-heated blocks and whether, because of poor thermal efficiency, some blocks should receive additional hours of heating at no additional cost. This is moving to a more outcome-based measure of adequate heating – in terms of how warm residents are inside their homes instead of how much heating goes into their properties. Again, we are developing the evidence base for this at the moment but it could mean that moving forward estates, such as Spa Green, will receive additional heating hours and not have to pay more for this service. The fact that we pool tenants' heating charges allows us to consider this as an option, though of course it will not affect leaseholders.

C. Consulting on extending the heating season

Some residents have told us that they feel cold in cooler weather in the summer months and that they would like the heating season to be extended. Following a pilot in 2014, in April '15 we will be consulting residents (with boiler houses with the technical capability to respond to outside temperature), whether they would like to pay more for heating during June and September when the temperature drops.

D. Improving communication with residents on communally-heated estates about responsible use of communal heating systems.

This will include information about how to use heating controls to ensure residents aren't over-heating their homes and aren't opening windows instead of turning heating down. Making the case for this involves educating residents that if everyone used less heating costs would go down for everyone.

E. Reviewing the assumptions around heating and hot water usage and around the 'bedroom weightings' for heating and hot water charges

At the moment tenants just receiving heating from hot water systems are charged 60% of what other tenants receiving heating and hot water pay. This is a historical best estimate based on information at the time. This assumption will be reviewed to a more evidence-based position.

The heating charges for tenants are based on technical estimates of the amount of energy used by each property size in Islington. We have compared this to national averages provided by DECC. Applying these national averages would increase charges for larger properties and reduce charges for smaller properties. This is not recommended because costs would increase for larger households who already may be struggling to make ends meet.

Heating charges for leaseholders are based on the average for a two-bed property, to which 10% percent is added or deducted for each room that the property has above or below this. This will be reviewed to assess whether leaseholder heating charges should be apportioned in the same way as tenants across different property sizes.

F. Getting a better understanding of how tenants may respond to heat metering

There is a lack of robust data predicting how tenants will respond to the installation of heat meters in terms of reducing hours of heating and potentially under-heating their homes. It is recommended that qualitative research is carried out over the summer to ask different groups of residents, such as those in work and those at home during the day, how they would use their heating following the introduction of heat metering.

G. Continually reviewing the benefits of heat metering on a scheme by scheme basis

The benefits of heat metering vary significantly in different situations, for example residents in well insulated blocks are likely to see bigger savings, and savings would go up as the cost of fuel increased because the differential between fixed costs and variable costs would grow. Costs of heat meters may also reduce over time as their use becomes more common, whereas metering would not be recommended in blocks with a construction type that is prone to condensation. It is recommended that the option of

installing heat meters is reviewed on a scheme by scheme basis as new communal heating systems are installed, and that residents are involved in the decision through the major works consultation process. The decision about whether to install meters would be based on the availability of funding, cost of meter installation, likely cost savings for residents, like impact on vulnerable residents, and the ability to protect the building from damp and condensation following meter installation.

H. Changing the policy on compensation following loss of heating service

Compensation is currently applied automatically to tenants' rents account when there has been a loss of communal heating service for three days or more. Tenants do not have to apply for this - the payment is applied automatically applied. The payment is calculated based on the daily charge for communal heating (e.g. three days loss of heating would result in three days' cost being compensated). It is recommended that the policy is amended to provide compensation following a two day loss of heating and that the compensation is increased in line with the increased cost of electric heating compared to communal heating.

I. Providing more clarity about what happens if the cost of heating has been lower than the amount charged to tenants at the end of the year

The tenant communal heating account is a ring-fenced account. This means that the money that tenants pay in for their heating can only be used to pay for the cost of communal heating. The council is committed to setting heating charges that are affordable to residents and as far as possible are protected from big fluctuations in energy prices. We set charges based on our best estimate of the cost of gas for the coming year. Sometimes, as has happened in 2014/15, gas actually costs less than we thought it would at the beginning of the year and therefore there is a surplus in the communal heating account. Any surpluses at the end of any year will either be refunded to tenants or rolled forward to offset future increases in the cost of gas. In deciding between these options the council will consider whether fuel costs are likely to increase significantly in the coming years and whether the refund would be significant to warrant the administration around this. For example, now (at the end of 2014/15) we know what gas will cost in the coming year and the refund (at around £100 per tenant) is significant. Therefore, we will not look to roll any of the surplus forward into 2015/16 and will refund 100% of the surplus (from 2014/15) back to tenants.